IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Supreme Court Case No.
District Court Case No. 2D03-478; 2D03-2355 (Consolidated)
Florida Bar No. 283975
On Discretionary Review of a Question Certified by the District Court of Appeal

HOWARD MOSS, Petitioner

VS.

PATRICIA L. MOSS, Respondent

PETITIONER'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

Law Offices of David M. Wall Two Prestige Place, Suite 130 2650 McCormick Drive Clearwater, Florida 33759

and

Law Offices of Greene, Smith & Associates, P.A. 7340 S.W. 61st Court Miami, Florida 33143 (786) 268-2553

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, HOWARD MOSS, was the Appellant in the District Court of Appeal, Second District. The Respondent, PATRICIA MOSS, was the Appellee. The parties shall be referred to herein as "the Husband" and "the Wife." References to the Appendix shall be indicated by the abbreviation "App." All emphasis herein is supplied unless otherwise noted.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Petitioner/Husband seeks the discretionary review of this Court upon the following question certified as one of great public importance by the Second District Court of Appeal: "May the parties, by an express provision in a prenuptial agreement, contract away a future obligation to pay attorney's fees and costs during the term of the marriage by providing for prevailing party attorney's fees in actions seeking to enforce or prevent the breach of the prenuptial contract?"

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts which appear in the opinion of the Second District herein are relatively simple: the trial court awarded attorney's fees to the Wife and denied the Husband's request for such an award, the latter of which had been premised upon the provisions of §57.105, Florida Statutes, and the terms of the parties' Prenuptial Agreement. The District Court held, "we affirm the denial of the Husband's request for attorney's fees under section 57.105, Florida Statutes (2002), finding

that this issue is controlled by our recent decision in *Lashkajani v. Lashkajani*, 855 So.2d 87 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), review granted, 879 So.2d 622 (Fla. 2004)." (App. 1).¹

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Husband submits that the issue raised by this case is truly one of great public importance. As Florida law presently stands, a spouse is wholly free to challenge the validity or seek "interpretation" of the provisions of a prenuptial agreement and, regardless of the lack of merit of such an action or even the trial court's subsequent determination that the agreement was fully valid and enforceable, he or she is nevertheless assured of receiving an award of fees for his or her attorney's fruitless efforts simply upon a showing that the other spouse has a

_

The issue determined by the Second District in *Lashkajani*, *supra*., was whether the parties to a prenuptial agreement could validly contract for the future award of "prevailing party" attorney's fees in the event that either party was required 'to enforce or prevent the breach of the prenuptial agreement." Therein the District Court held, "It is well settled in Florida that a spouse's obligation to provide spousal support during the marriage, including the responsibility for attorney's fees and costs, may not be contracted away by a prenuptial agreement. Belcher v. Belcher, 271 So.2d 7, 13 (Fla.1972); Fernandez v. Fernandez, 710 So.2d 223, 225 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998); Blanton v. Blanton, 654 So.2d 1240, 1240 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995); Lawhon v. Lawhon, 583 So.2d 776, 777 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). Thus, a provision of a prenuptial agreement purporting to waive the spouse's obligation to pay attorney's fees and costs incurred during the marriage is unenforceable." Although the question certified in Lashkajani is identical to that certified herein, the issue in this case is different because here - as the opinion recites - the District Court applied the foregoing rationale both to a request for fees pursuant to the express terms of the parties' prenuptial agreement and to a request for attorney's fees pursuant to §57.105, Florida Statutes.

greater "ability to pay." We submit that this particular circumstance is contrary to the public policy of the State of Florida that, "the general rule is that competent parties shall have the utmost liberty of contracting and their agreements voluntarily and fairly made will be upheld and sustained by the courts." *See, e.g., Pierce v. Isaac*, 134 Fla. 666, 184 So. 509 (1938). Our public policy further recognizes the benefit of settlements and, given that a prenuptial agreement is nothing more than a settlement in advance of potential future litigation, "the preference for settlements would be undermined if a contracting party could finance - with the funds of the party seeking to uphold the agreement - unsuccessful proceedings to undo such agreements simply by showing need and ability to pay." *Spano v. Spano*, 698 So.2d 324 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997).²

In this regard we note that in *Casto v. Casto*, 508 So.2d 330, 334 (Fla. 1987), this Court referred to the parties' agreement therein as a "settlement agreement" although it was actually a post-nuptial agreement, entered into one year prior to any litigation between the parties.

ARGUMENT

THE QUESTION CERTIFIED BY THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT, IN THIS CASE IS OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE AND SHOULD BE REVIEWED BY THIS COURT.

It is "black letter" law that marital contracts - including prenuptial agreements - are to be treated by the courts as they would any other contract. See, e.g., Estate of Macarrell, 254 So.2d 240, 241 (Fla. 4th DCA 1971) - ("an antenuptial agreement like any other contract is presumptively valid"); Wagner v. Wagner, 885 So.2d 488, 492 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004) - ("a settlement agreement... entered into voluntarily after full disclosure and then ratified by a court, is a contract, subject to interpretation like any other contract"); Zakian v. Zakian, 837 So.2d 549, 550 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003) - ("it is well settled that a marital settlement agreement is to be interpreted like any other contract and is construed as a matter of law"). It is also fundamental that our courts "will not interfere with the facility of contracting and free expression of the will and judgment of the parties by not allowing them to be the sole judge of the benefits to be derived from their bargains, provided there is no incompetency to contract, and the agreement violates no rule of law." Ryland v. Ryland, 605 So.2d 138 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). Given the foregoing, it seems a rather simple proposition that when a contract is found to be valid, all of its provisions should be enforceable. In other words, if a party freely and voluntarily decides to waive all attorney fees in a dissolution of marriage

action, there is no legal or public policy reason why he or she should not be held to the bargain made. After all, our law permits waivers in prenuptial agreements of far more significant rights such as spousal support, distribution of assets, homestead rights, the ability to modify support payments and so on. *See*, *e.g.*, *City National Bank v. Tescher*, 578 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1991) - (waiver of homestead rights in prenuptial agreement); *Mackaravitz v. Mackaravitz*, 710 So.2d 57 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) - (waiver of any and all right to support payments in an antenuptial agreement); *Porter v. Porter*, 593 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) - (waiver of property rights in a prenuptial agreement precludes court from awarding equitable distribution).

We recognize that this Court is presently considering the foregoing issue in Lashkajani, supra. This case, however, appears to extend the rationale of Lashkajani - i.e., that a spouse with the "ability to pay" cannot be relieved of his or her obligation to pay the fees incurred by the other spouse prior to the entry of a dissolution judgment - to include the statutory right of a party to litigation to seek the imposition of attorney's fees for frivolous litigation pursuant to §57.105, Florida Statutes. If so, then there is now absolutely no protection afforded under our law to a spouse who has been the victim of meritless, frivolous or spurious litigation regarding the validity, interpretation, construction or enforcement of a prenuptial agreement. Such should certainly not be either the law or the public

policy of the State of Florida and, therefore, the certified question raised herein is of great public importance and this Court should, accordingly, review this case.

CONCLUSION AND CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Based upon the foregoing argument and authority, the Husband respectfully submits that this Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the instant case.