#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

HOWARD MOSS, Petitioner

v.

PATRICIA L. MOSS, Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. Case No. 2D03-478 Case No. 2D03-2355 (Consolidated)

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT REGARDING JURISDICTION

Joseph R. Park and Michael J. Park

Park and Ossian, P.A. 2201 N.E. Coachman Rd. Suite 200 Clearwater, Florida 33765

#

### **INTRODUCTION**

The Petitioner, HOWARD MOSS, was the Husband in the litigation below and the Respondent, PATRICIA L. MOSS, was the Wife. The parties will be referred to as AFormer Husband@ and AFormer Wife,@respectively.

### **JURISDICTION**

The Second District certified the question of, AMay the parties, by an express provision in a prenuptial agreement, contract away a future obligation to pay attorneys fees and costs during the term of the marriage by providing for prevailing party attorneys fees in actions seeking to enforce or prevent the breach of the prenuptial contract? Pursuant to Rule 9.120 of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, when a District Court certifies a question, the filing of a Initial Jurisdictional Brief by a party is prohibited. The Former Husband chose to disregard this clear rule and file an Initial Brief. This Court should accordingly disregard the Former Husbands Jurisdictional Brief and make its decision regarding exercising jurisdiction according to the established Appellate Rules.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The two major issues in the case were whether the Prenuptial Agreement waived the Wifes rights in post-nuptial businesses which she was induced to work in by her husband, and what was the duration of the parties marriage under the Agreement. The trial court found for the Husband on the waiver issue and found for the Wife on the marriage duration issue. (FJ., 6.) The trial court entered an award of attorneys fees to

the Wife on April 28, 2003, finding her fees to be reasonable. The Husband filed an appeal on January 16, 2003. (R. 2848.) The Second District Court of Appeal upheld the lower court=s ruling in every aspect. As they have done on several prior occasions, the Second District certified the question of AMay the parties, by an express provision in a prenuptial agreement, contract away a future obligation to pay attorney=s fees and costs during the term of the marriage by providing for prevailing party attorney=s fees in actions seeking to enforce or prevent the breach of the prenuptial contract?@

The District Court upheld the final judgment of the trial judge with regard to the denial of the Former Husbands request for fees pursuant to '57.105. The trial court summarily denied any request for attorneys fees by the Former Husband, stating that ASome of the tactics employed by the Former Husband in the course of these proceedings have, at the very least, necessitated significant expenditures of time and effort by the Former Wifes attorneys...Much of this time and expense could have and should have been reasonably avoided by a modicum of good faith cooperation by the Former Husband.@(R. 2959).

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.120, since the Second District certified the question the Former Husband wishes this Court to address, no jurisdictional briefs are permitted by the parties. However, the Former Husband disregarded the rule and filed an Initial Brief, and the Former Wife feels obligated to respond. The denial of the Former Husbands request for fees pursuant to '57.105 was not based on the judges perception that the lower court was prohibited in any way from awarding punitive fees because of the parties= martial relationship. The lower court rejected the Former Husbands fee request because it was unfounded and not supported by the evidence. Indeed, the trial judge found the Former Wifes conduct and request for attorneys fees to be reasonable. This court should disregard the Jurisdictional Brief of the Former Husband and entertain jurisdiction solely on the well established Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

## **ARGUMENT**

#### Issue I.

THE FORMER HUSBAND LACKS STANDING TO FILE AN INITIAL BRIEF ON JURISDICTION AS THE ISSUE WAS CERTIFIED BY THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS AS A QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE.

This issue was certified by the Second District Court of Appeals as an issue of great public importance as enumerated by Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v). Pursuant to Rule 9.120(d), no jurisdictional briefs should be filed by the parties. The Former Husband, in his Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction, has erroneously stated that the Appellate decision Aexpressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another District Court of Appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law.@ That is simply not the case. Nowhere in his jurisdictional brief has the Former Husband stated or demonstrated which appellate or Supreme Court decision with which the current decision Aexpressly and directly conflicts.@ In fact, the position espoused by the Former Husband has been expressly rejected by this Court. In *Belcher v. Belcher*, 271 So.2d 7 (Fla.1972); this Court noted that a husband's obligation for his wife's attorney's fees is part of his support obligation, and "ante or post-nuptial contracts are entered into subject to then existing law, including the law of this state that makes a husband responsible for the support of his wife while she is married to him." As is clear from the record and his jurisdictional brief, the Former Husband is endeavoring to extend, overturn, and/or modify existing case law with regard to the well established obligation of a spouse to support the other through the

pendency of a dissolution proceeding.

Moreover, the denial of the Former Husbands request for attorneys fees was not based on the trial judges perception that he could not award '57.105 fees based on existing Florida law. The litigation below was not frivolous or made in bad faith. The Former Wife prevailed on two of the three contested issues. In fact, the trial judge found that, AThe reasonableness of the amount of attorneys fees and costs of the Former Wifes attorneys cannot be seriously contested. (R. 2957). The trial judge denied any request for attorneys fees by the Former Husband. (R. 2959). To suggest now that the trial courts denial of fees to the Husband was based on a perceived prohibition by the trial judge to award fees pursuant to '57.105 Fla. Stat. is a misstatement of the facts of the case.

The "prevailing party" for purposes of awarding attorney's fees is the party determined by the trial court to have prevailed on significant issues in the litigation. **Zhang v. D.B.R. Asset Management, Inc.**, 878 So.2d 386, 387 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004). In addition, "an attorney's fee award is not required each time there is litigation involving a contract providing for prevailing attorney's fees." **KCIN, Inc. v. Canpro Inv., Ltd.**, 675 So.2d 222 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996). A trial court may properly determine that neither party has prevailed in a contract action under compelling circumstances. **Miller v. Jacobs & Goodman, P.A.**, 820 So.2d 438 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002).

Simply put, the trial court denied the Husband his fees based on the lack of merit of his claim, not on a prohibition by case law or statute. The Former Husband was not the prevailing party to the litigation and therefore not entitled to fees. The filing a jurisdictional brief by the Former Husband is improper in this case as Rule 9.120 of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure clearly prohibits parties from filing jurisdictional briefs when the question was certified as one of great public importance by the Second District.

### **CONCLUSION**

This Court should make its determination to exercise jurisdiction solely on the question certified by the Second District Court of Appeals.